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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE W ESTERN DISTRICT OF VIR GINIA

ROANOKE DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AM ERICA

V.

SETH LINKOUS THOM AS,
Defendant.

Seth Linkous Thomas, a federal inmate proceeding pro .K, has filed a motion to vacate,

1 h ment has filed aset aside
, or correct his sentence pursuant to 28 U.S.C. j 2255. T e govern

Crim inal A ction No. 7:10CR00016

M EM ORANDUM  OPINION

By: M ichael F. Urbanski
United States District Judge

motion to dismiss, and the time allotted for Thomas to respond has elapsed, maldng this matter

2 After reviewing the record
, the court concludes that Thomas has notripe for consideration.

stated any meritorious claim for relief under j 2255 and that the government's motion to dismiss

must be granted.

1.

On March 18, 2010, a federal grand jury sitting in Roanoke, Virginia, charged Thomas in

a four-cotmt indictment with conspiracy to possess with intent to distribute a measurable quantity

of fentanyl resulting in death or serious bodily injury of another, in violation of 21 U.S.C. j 846

ttfcotmt One''); aiding and abetting in the distribution of fentanyl resulting in serious bodily

injury of another, in violation of 21 U.S.C. j 841(a)(1) and (b)(1)(C) (ççcount Two''); distributing

fentanyl resulting in the death of another, in violation of 21 U.S.C.j 841(a)(1) and (b)(1)(C)

tçtcotmt Tllree''); and distributing morphine in violation of 21 U.S.C. j 841(a)(1) and (b)(1)(C)

(çfctjunt Four''). On December 9, 2010, Thomas pleaded guilty to Count Fotlr of the indictment

' Thomas was sentenced by United States District Judge James C. Turk. Judge Turk is deceased and the
motion has been assigned to the uùdersigned United States District Judge.

2 Thomas filed a motion for an extension of time to tile a response to the government's motion to dismiss,
which the court p anted by order entered August 5, 2015, giving Thomas until August 26, 2015 to file a response.
Thomas did not file a response.



and the court accepted his plea. (ECF Nos. 137, 138.) He proceeded to trial on Counts One,

Two, and Three. Thomas challenges his conviction only on Count Three.

Count Tlzree stemmed from a fatal fentanyl overdose by Bany Dtmcan on November 29,

2007. The prosecution presented evidence at trial that Thomas provided Duncan with a fentanyl

' b k 3 (Trial Tr. at 39, ECF No. 176.) Later,patch and helped Duncan apply it to Duncan s ac .

when the patch did not adhere well, Duncan ingested it. (Trial Tr. at 44, ECF No. 176.) He was

found deceased the following morning. (Trial Tr. at 119-20, ECF No. 176.) Dr. Xmy Tharp, the

assistant chief medical exnminer who performed Duncan's autopsy, testitied that Duncan died

from acute combined fentanyl and methadone poisoning.(Trial Tr. at 129, ECF No. 176.) Dr.

Tharp explained that the amotmt of methadone in Duncan's body was small, and Duncan Gçhad a

clearly lethal level of fentanyl all by itself Regardless of anything else that was in his blood,

that was enough to have caused his death.'' (1d.) She went on to explain that the level of

methadone in his body would not have been lethal, without the fentanyl. (Trial Tr. at 130, ECF

No. 176.) However, because the two drugs have similar effects on the body, she could not

discount methadone as t%potentially making the situation worse.'' (1d.) ln addition, Dr. James

Jolm Kuhlman, Jr. a forensic toxicologist, testised that the level of fentanyl found in Thomas's

system was tçclearly fatal.'' (Trial. Tr. at 19, ECF N0. 175.)

The jury was instructed, with regard to Count Two, which involved a non-fatal fentanyl
. 

'

overdose by Jnmes Clarke, that it could only find Dtmcan guilty if the government established

that the serious bodily injury ççresulted from the use of fentanyl.'' (Trial Tr. at 15, ECF No. 177.)

The court f'urther defined çtresulted from'' as çsthe victim would not have suffered the serious

bodily injury but for (had it not been for) the fentanyl.In other words, if the fentanyl was not

3 Defense counsel argued that Duncan could have purchased the patch from someone else who was a
known fentanyl patch dealer, as Duncan and Thomas drove somewhere directly before they came back to the
apartment where Duncan applied the patch. (Trial Tr. at 14-15, ECF No. 213.)
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used by the victim, the victim would not have suffered the serious bodily injury.'' (Id. at 16.)

W ith regard to Count Three, the jury was instructed that the government must prove beyond a

reasonable doubt that ççthe use of the fentanylresulted in the death of another,'' without

additional explanation.(Trial Tr. at 16-17, ECF No. 177.)

The jury rettumed a guilty verdict on al1 tlu'ee charges.(ECF No. 1r7.) On April 4, 201 1,

the court held a sentencing hearing. (ECF No. 197.) Thomas was sentenced to 300 months'

imprisonment. (Judgment at 3, ECF No. 191.) Thomas appealed. (ECF No. 193.)

On July 25, 2012, the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals reversed Thomas's conviction on

Count One (conspiracy to possess with intent to distribute a measurable quantity of fentanyl

resulting in death or serious bodily injury of another) and Cotmt Two (aiding and abetting in the

distribution of fentanyl resulting in serious bodily injury of another) for lack of evidence. United

Ssltes v. Thomas, 489 F. App'x 688, 695 (4th Cir. 2012). The Fourth Circuit affirmed Thomas's

conviction as to Count Three (distributing fentanyl resulting in the death of another). L4. at 693-

94. The Fourth Circuit vacated Thomas's sentence and remanded for resentencing. L(1. at 695.

Thomas appealed the Fourth Circuit decision, but the Supreme Court denied his petition for a

writ of certiorari. Thomas v. United States, 133 S. Ct. 588 (2012).

On September 12, 2012, the court resentehced Thomas to 240 months' imprisonment on

Count Three and 120 months' imprisonment on Cotmt Four to run concurrently. (Am. J. at 2,

ECF No. 225.) As set fol'th in Thomas's original presentence report, Thomas's conviction on

Count Tlu'ee for drug distribution resulting in death required a mandatory minimllm sentence of

240 months pursuant to 21 U.S.C. j 841(b)(1).

appeal his resentencing.

(PSR at 16, ECF No. 195.) Thomas did not
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On Jmluary 28, 2015, Thomas filed the current j 2255 motion.Thomas argues that his

motion was timely filed because the Supreme Court, in its recent decision in United States v.

Burraze, U.S. , 134 S. Ct. 88 1 (2014), recognized a new right that applies retroactively to

him.

II.

A viable petition under j 2255 must adhere to strict statute of limitations requirements.

A person convicted of a federal offense must tile a j 2255 motion within one year .of the latest

date on which:

(1) the judgment of conviction becomes tinal;

(2) the impediment to making a motion created by governmental action in
violation of the Constitution or laws of the United States is removed, if the
movant Fas prevented from making a motion by such governmental action;

(3) the right asserted was initially recognized by the Supreme Court, if
that right has been newly recognized by the Supreme Court and made
retroactively applicable to cases on collateral review; or

(4) the facts supporting the claim or claims presented could have been
discovered through the exercise of due diligence.

28 U.S.C. j 2255(9. lf a defendant does not appeal, his judgment pf conviction becomes final

when the time period to appeal or seek review has concluded. Clay v. United States, 537 U.S.

522, 524-25 (2003).

An amended judgment was entered against Thomas on September 14, 2012. (ECF No.

225.) Because he did not appeal the judgment, his conviction became final on September 28,

2012, fourteen days after his nmended judgment was entered. See Fed. R. App. P. 4(b)(1)(A).

He then had one year, until September 28, 2013, in which to file a timely j 2255 motion.
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Because Thomas filed his j 2255 motion on January 28, 2015, his claims are tmtimely under

j 2255(941).

Nonetheless, Thomas argues that rather than use the date of his amended judgment of

conviction as the trigger for calculating the timeliness of his j 2255 motion, the court should use

the date of the Supreme Court's recent decision in Burrage instead. Burrace was decided on

' 2255 motion was ûled within a year of that decision.4January 27
, 2014, and Thomas s j

Pursuant to j 2255(9(3), Thomas can rely on Burrage's triggering date only if the

Supreme Coud announced a new nlle of constitutional law that applies retroactively. The

Supreme Court did not specify whether Burrace has retroactive effect and many courts, including

this one, have refused to so find. See. e.g., Steward v. United States. 89 F. Supp. 3d 993, 996

(E.D. . Wis. 2015) (collecting cases); United States v. Grady, No. 5: 10CR0002, 20 15 W L

4773236, at *4, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 106374, at *9-10 (W .D. Va. Aug. 12, 2015).

Nonetheless, the issue is not settled and the Eighth Circuit recently granted a defendant's

certiscate of appealability because the government in that case conceded that 'CBttrrage applies

retroactively.'' Ragland v. United States, 784 F.3d 1213, 1214 (8th Cir. 2015).

This court need not resolve the question of whether Burrage applies retroactively,

however, because Thomas's trial comports with the more stringent burden-of-proof str dard

enunciated in Burrage.ln Burrage, the Court interpreted 21 U.S.C. j 841(a)(1) and (b)(1)(C),

the statute under which Thomas was found guilty in Count Three, to impose a new and stricter

burden of proof on the government to establish that ççdeath or serious bodily injury resultgedl''

from drug distribution. 134 S.Ct. at 891.

4 Thomas's motion was filed on January 28
, 20 15. That is a year and a day aoer Burrace was decided. However, the

ttprison mailbox rule,'' which establishes that a petition is deemed filed upon delivery to prison mailroom officials,
applies. Houston v. Lack, 487 U.S. 266, 270-72 (1988). The envelope in which Thomas's petition was mailed to the
court was date-stamped January 26, 2015. Accordingly, his petition will be constnled as having been filed within a
year of the Burrage decision.
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A defendant who is convicted of distribution under j 841(b)(1)(C) faces a prison term of

not more than twenty years. 21 U.S.C. j 841(b)(1)(C). However, when ûçdeath or serious bodily

injury results from the use of the (distributedqsubstancey'' the defendant faces a mandatory

minimum sentence of 20 years. J-lJ. Under Burrace, it is not enough for the government to show

that a drug that a defendant distributed contributed to the victim's death or injury. 134 S. Ct. at

891. Instead, the government must meet a but-for causation test, which requires it to prove that

the distributed drug was independently sufficient to cause the victim's death. ld. at 892. ln other

words, the government must show that but for the distributed drug, the overdose victim would

not have died or suffered serious bodily harm. J#. Without such a tlnding, a defendant cnnnot be

subject to the twenty-year mandatory minimum sentence provided for tmder the penalty

enhancement provision of 21 U.S.C. j 841(b)(1)(C). Id. at 892. The determination that ççdeath

results'' increases the statutory minimllm and maximum sentences that a defendant faces and thus

is an element of the offense that must be submitted to the jury and found beyond a reasonable

doubt. Id. at 887.

Thomas asserts that under Burrace, the fentanyl patch that he was convicted of

distributing was not an independently sufficient cause of death because Duncan died from Gçacute

combined fentanyl and methadone poisoning.'' (Trial Tr. at 129, ECF No. 176 (emphasis

addedl.) However, Thomas presents no evidence that the fentanyl merely contributed rather than
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trial concluded that the level of fentanyl found in Dtmcan's body was fatal. The assistant chief



medical eyaminer testified both on direct and cross examination that Dtmcan would have died

from the fentanyl even without the methadone.M oreover, she described the level of methadone

as çjust enough . . . for them to tell that it was there, but not actually enough for them to measure

it.'' (Trial Tr. at 130, ECF No. 176.) She said that she included the methadone as a contributing

factor because it has a similar effect to fentanyl and so might have Slpotentially magde) the

situation worse.'' (1d.) Nonetheless, she stated unequivocally and ççbeyond a reasonable doubt''

that the fentanyl without the methadone would have caused Duncan to die. (Id. at 137.) A

forensic toxicologist also testitied at trial that the amount of fentanyl in Duncan's system was

çtclearly fatal'' as death often results from levels less than half as high as those found in Duncan.

(Trial Tr. at 19, ECF 175.)

Finally, the jury was properly instructed that it must find that the use of fentanyl ûiresulted

'' D 's death.s W hen the court defined tlresulted in '' in Cotmt Two
, it explained that thein tmcan ,

government must show that çlbut for (had it not been for) the fentanyl'' the victim would not have

suffered serious bodily injury. (Trial Tr. at 16, ECF No. 177 (emphasis addedl.) The court went

on to elucidate: Gtln other words, if the fentanyl was not used by the victim, the victim would not

have suffered the serious bodily injury.'' (1d.) For Count Three, the court did not further desne

tçresulted in'' other than instnlcting the jury that it must find that Stthe use of the fentanyl resulted

in the death of another.'' As the Supreme Court made clear in Burraae, the Sçordinary meaning''

5 h ided with a verdict fol'm that asked it to check one of three possible outcomes with regard toT e jury was prov
Count Three:

Guilty of knowingly and intentionally distributing, or aiding and abetting in the distribution of a
measurable quantity of Fentanyl, a Schedule 11 controlled substance, which resulted in the death of another.

Not Guilty as charged in the lndictment, but Guilty of knowingly and intentionally distributing, or aiding
and abetting in the distribution of a measurable quantity of Fentanyl, a Schedule 11 controlled substance.

Not Guilty.

(Verdict Form, ECF No. 157). Thejury checked the the flrst option.



of ttresults from'' is that the outcome or harm would not have occurred were it not for the

defendant's conduct. Burrage, 'jte jj jit; i risjyjjo ;, ' Ljjjjt (Wj( jyjjjj ( è: ) j)(134 S.Ct. at 887-88; . .. . . . .. . ,.. . .. .,.. .( ...,

(concluding that the district court did not err by allowing the jury to rely on its own

understanding of the term Glresults from,'' without providing additional instruction). The jury

could have relied on its general understanding of the phrase Slresults from,'' or the explanation

previously provided by the court in Cotmt Two. See Noel v. Artson, 641 F.3d 580, 586 (4th Cir.

201 1) (noting that a court must look at ççwhether the instructions construed as a whole, and in

light of the whole record, adequately informed the jury of the controlling legal principles without
*

misleading or confusing the jtlry . . . .'' (internal quotation omittedl). The fact that the detailed

definition was provided only as to Count Two does not àffect the validity of the jtlry instructions

provided in Count Three because it is important not to dioverlookgj the fact that the charge in its

totality was what the jury heard.'' 1d. The instructions, construed as a whole, adequately

informed the jury that in order to find Thomas guilty of Count Three, it needed to find that bùt

for the use of fentanyl, Duncan would not have died.

M oreover, the facts in Burrace were very different from this case. In Burrace, the victim

died after çtall extended drug binge.'' Burrage, 134 S. Ct. at 885. At the time of his death, heroin

metabolites, codeine, alprazolnm, clonazepam metabolites, and oxycodone a11 were fotmd in the

victim's system. Id. The defendant sold the victim the heroin, was convicted under 21 U.S.C. j

841(a)(1), and sentenced under the mandatory minimtlm provision when death ttresults from'' the

use of the distributed drug. 1d. Because of the nllmber of clnzgs in the victim's system, tGgnlo

expert was prepared to say that gthe victim) would have died from the heroin use alone.'' 1d. a:t

890. Indeed, in Burrage, the court instructed the jury, in confonnity with the evidence, that the

8



heroin distributed by the defendant merely needed to act as :ça contributin: cause of (the

vicitim'sj death.'' 1d. at 886 (emphasis added).

In Thomas's case, however, the circumstances were markedly different. Because the level

of fentanyl in Duncan's system was so high and the level of methadone so low, every expert

testified that the level of fentanyl alone was fatal. Moreover, the jury instnlctions never

suggested that the use of fentanyl need only have contributed to Duncan's death. Instead, they

made clear that the fentanyl must have been the but-for cause of Duncan's death. Therefore, the

evidence supports Thomas's conviction under the but-for causation test mandated by Burrage.

Thomas raises two additional claims for relief. First, he argues that the court erroneously

instructed the jury regarding aiding and abqtting in Count Three because it did not explain that

Thomas could not be found guilty if he did not give Duncan the fentanyl patch, but merely

helped him apply it to his body. (Mot. at 8, ECF 231.) Second, he argues that there was no

evidence presented that he, rather than a known fentanyl-patch dealer, distributed the fentanyl

patch to Dtmcan. (Mot. at 16, ECF 231.) These claims are umelated to the Supreme Court's

decision in Burrage. Because Congress has evinced a clear intent to cabin the time for sling

post-conviction remedies ptlrsuant to 28 U.S.C. j 2255, each claim raised in a habeas petition

must satisfy the one-year time limit. Bachman v. Bacley, 487 F.3d 979, 984 (6th Cir. 2007);

Fielder v. Vnrner, 379 F.3d 1 13, 117-18 (3d Cir. 2004). These additional claims do not fall

6under the j 2255(9(3) savings clause, and accordingly are untimely.

6 E ing arcuendo
, that Thomas's Burrace claim is timely under j 2255(9(3) and that one timelyVen assum y

claim allows this court to hear a1l claims in the petition, see Walker v. Crosby, 34l F.3d 1240, 1245 (1 1th Cir.
2003), his additional arguments lack merit. To state a viable claim for relief under j 2255, a defendant must prove:
(1) that his sentence was Sçimposed in violation of the Constitution or laws of the United Statesi'' (2) that ççthe court
was without jurisdiction to impose such a sentencei'' or (3) that itthe sentence was in excess of the maximum
authorized by law, or is otherwise subject to collateral attack.'' 28 U.S.C. j 2255. n omas cannot do so. His
counsel objected to the aiding and abetting juq instruction at trial, and Thomas appealed the issue to the Fourth
Circuit. The Fourth Circuit concluded that the Jury instructions, as a whole, properly instructed the jury as to the
requirements for aiding and abetthzg. United States v. Thomas, 489 F. App'x. 688, 692-93 (4th Cir. 20 12). Thomas
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111.

For the reasons stated herein, the cout't will grant the government's motion to dismiss.

An appropriate order will be entered this day. Because Thomas has failed to make a substantial

showing of the denial of a constitutional right as required by 28 U.S.C. j 2253((1, a certiûcate of

appealability will be denied.

ENTER: This / ( day of March, 2016.

V / W  'fwf* Y '
United States District Judge

raises no new evidence with regard to this claim. Once an issue has been fully considered and decided by the court
of appeals, the defendant cannot relitigate the issue before this court under j 2255. Boeckenhaupt v. United States,
537 F.2d 1 182, 1 183 (4th Cir. l 976). Accordingly, it must fail.

Thomas's other claim that the govermnent presented no evidence that he distributed the fentanyl patch to
Duncan also fails. His defense theory at trial was that Duncan bought the fentanyl patch 9om someone else who was
a known fentanyl dealer. (Trial Tr. at 14-15, ECF No. 213). The jury credited the govemment's evidence over
Thomas's, however, and found him guilty of Count Tlzree. (Verdict at 2, ECF No. 157). Thomas has presented no
evidence that this factual determination considered and rejected by the jury, was imposed in violation of the
Constitution or federal laws, that this court was without jurisdiction to impose his sentence, or that his sentence was
in excess of the maximum allowed by law. 28 U.S.C. 5 2255. Accordingly, it lacks merit and must be dismissed.


